FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/24/2020 12:41 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/28/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO.

(Court of Appeals No. 53588-2-II)

99359-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARL W. SCHWARTZ and SHERRY SCHWARTZ, individually And the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents,

v.

KING COUNTY, a local government entity and municipal corporation within the State of Washington,

Petitioner.

KING COUNTY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

argument that recreational use immunity required use of the trail solely for
recreational purposes. Slip op. at 10. It also rejected respondent's other
general claims that recreational use immunity did not apply to the GRT. *Id.* at 12-18.

Although the appellate court determined that recreational use immunity applied, Judges Melnick and Sutton formed a majority holding that the bollard fell within the "known dangerous artificial latent

² A copy of the Division II decision is attached as Appendix A. It is reported at *Schwartz v. King County*, --- Wn.App. ---, 474 P.3d 1092 (Oct. 27, 2020)

condition" statutory exception to recreational use immunity. *See* RCW 4.24.210(4)(a). The majority noted that "[k]known, dangerous, artificial, and latent all modify the term condition, not each other" and recognized that each factor must be established for the exception to apply. Slip op. at 19.

Two aspects of this exception are in dispute through this petition. First, the majority held that the bollard was not a "latent" condition as a matter of law due to supposed material issues of fact. Although recognizing the controlling rule of law from *Jewels* that a condition is not latent whenever a person "could stand near the [object] and see it," slip op. at 22, the majority nevertheless determined that material issues of fact existed because respondent's expert testimony claimed that the bollard was "nearly invisible" from other vantage points. Slip op. at 22-23. The majority held that: "The expert testimony, along with other evidence, demonstrates that, under conditions as they appeared to Schwartz, a material issue of fact exists." *Id.* at 23. The majority failed to note or discuss any of the photos of the bollard in the record.

Second, the majority determined that the bollard was a "dangerous" condition due to material disputes of fact. Rather than applying tort law precedent that defines "dangerous in terms of common law negligence, namely, a condition that poses an unreasonable risk of

harm," the majority adopted an extremely broad dictionary definition. Slip op. at 20. It defined "dangerous" as "'demanding caution or care as extremely unsafe,' or 'able or likely to inflict injury or harm." *Id.* Using this definition, the majority reached the circular conclusion that "the very nature of [respondent's] injury indicates that the bollard is dangerous." Slip op. at 21. In essence, the fact that a bollard *could* injure a person running into it made the bollard dangerous. *Id.*

Judge Worsnick dissented on the latency issue. Slip op. at 25-28. He rejected the notion "that there are genuine issues of material fact as to whether an easily photographed, painted bollard with a reflector on top presents a latent condition under RCW 4.24.210(4)(a)" and "would hold as a matter of law that the bollard was obvious." *Id.* at 25. He pointed out language from *Jewels*, which endorsed the analysis that a condition is obvious, not latent, when it can be captured by a photograph. *Id.* at 26. Because the bollard was readily captured in multiple photographs, it is not latent as a matter of law. *Id.* at 27. Moreover, Judge Worsnick pointed out the majority's further error of "subjectively assess[in] the bollard from the point of view of person riding a bike" under "conditions as they appeared to Schwartz," rather than objectively viewing the bollard from the viewpoint of a person standing near it. *Id.* The photos "clearly show the obvious bollard." *Id.*

King County filed a timely motion for reconsideration pointing out Photo No. 3 in the record, which shows the bollard from the legally dispositive viewpoint of a person standing next to it. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration 2-1 with Judge Worsnick continuing in his dissent. *See* Appendix B.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- A. Is a bollard obvious and not latent as a matter of law under RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) when it is readily photographable from the vantage point of a person standing near it?
- B. Is a bollard a not a "dangerous" condition under RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) when its necessary function is to protect pedestrians and cyclists from harmful intrusion by motor vehicles?

IV. KING COUNTY'S PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) & (4)

A. RAP 13.4(b)(1): THE 2-1 DECISION FROM DIVISION TWO IS CONTRARY TO *JEWELS*, WHICH HELD THAT A CONDITION IS NOT "LATENT" WHEN IT IS CAPABLE OF BEING PHOTOGRAPHED BY A PERSON STANDING NEAR IT

In Jewels, this Court distilled the following legal rule for determining a latent condition: "if an ordinary recreational user standing near the injury-causing condition could see it by observation, without the need to uncover or manipulate the surrounding area, the condition is

obvious (not latent) as a matter of law." Jewels, 183 Wn.2d at 400 (emphasis added). "The fact that the condition can be easily photographed is an acknowledgment that the condition is obvious." *Id.* at 401. Based on its review of the photographs in the record, this Court held the berm in *Jewels* was obvious as a matter of law because "any person could stand near the water diverter and see it." *Id.* at 400.

The majority decision of the Court of Appeals is flatly contrary to *Jewels*. It fails to consider the legal impact of photographs in the record even though they are highlighted in the dissent. A bollard that can be photographed is obvious, not latent. *Id.* Moreover, it must be viewed from the legally relevant viewpoint and vantage point of a person standing near the condition, not from the viewpoint of a cyclist on the trail. Given the undisputed photographs in the record, the Division Two majority plainly erred because a bollard is not latent as a matter of law.

The majority's reliance on respondent's expert testimony does not distinguish it from *Jewels*. First, similar expert testimony claiming that water diversion berms are dangerous to cyclists and difficult to see was before this Court in *Jewels*, but the fact that the berm could be photographed carried the day. 183 Wn.2d at 398.

Second, as the dissenting judge points out below, respondent's expert testimony is from the wrong viewpoint and an incorrect vantage

point. The subjective observations of respondent Schwartz are not relevant under the *Jewels* test, nor is the proper vantage point that of someone on a bicycle down the trail. Rather, *Jewels* requires the viewpoint of an objective user from the vantage point of someone standing near the bollard. Photo No. 3, which was submitted by respondents themselves, shows that the bollard was obvious, not latent, from this legally relevant position.

Further, the Division Two majority's unwarranted inference that the bollard was "invisible" runs afoul of *Scott v. Harris*, 550 U.S. 372, 378 (2007), which holds that evidence contradicting an undisputed image creates no genuine issue of material fact and cannot be used to defeat a grant of summary judgment. 550 U.S. at 380. In *Scott*, the Supreme Court pointed out that video evidence presents an "added wrinkle" to the Rule 56 summary judgment standards.³ "When opposing parties tell two different stories, one of which is blatantly contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it, *a court should not adopt that*

_

³ The *Scott* rule has been adopted by the Court of Appeals. *See Suman v. State*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 656, 682, 418 P.3d 125, 140, *review denied*, 192 Wn.2d 1005, 430 P.3d 254 (2018) (Accepting rule from *Scott* that plaintiff "cannot testify or present testimony of witnesses contrary to the videotape that recorded Sluman's collision of Olson's patrol car door."). It has also been extended to photographs. *Recchia v. City of Los Angeles Dep't of Animal Servs.*, 889 F.3d 553, 556 n.1 (9th Cir. 2018).

yersion of the facts for purposes of ruling on a motion for summary judgment." Id. (emphasis added). No reasonable jury could believe testimony that the bollard was "nearly invisible" to someone standing next to it when Photo No. 3 plainly and unambiguously unveils it. Contrary to petitioners' claims, this is *not* "the case of the invisible bollard."

Because the majority decision below fails to follow this Court's controlling precedent in *Jewels*, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

B. RAP 13.4(b)(2): THE 2-1 DECISION FROM DIVISION TWO DEPARTS FROM ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT BY DEFINING "DANGEROUS" BASED ON A RESULTING INJURY WITHOUT REGARD TO THE REASONABLE PURPOSE OF THE OBJECT ITSELF

The majority below readily acknowledges that its definition of "dangerous" departs from other tort law precedent. Indeed, because RCW 4.24.201 contains no definition of "dangerous," other cases adhere to the common law definition of dangerous as a condition that poses an *unreasonable* risk of harm. *See Gaeta v. Seattle City Light*, 54 Wn. App. 603, 609, 774 P.2d 1255 (1989) (citing W. Prosser, *Law of Torts* § 31 (4th ed. 1971)). To define "dangerous" as meaning any lesser hazard would increase the potential liability of the landowner. *Id*.

Review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(2) to address the proper definition of dangerous under RCW 4.24.210. The decision of the

Division Two majority to jettison the common law definition of "dangerous" violates this Court's established rules of statutory construction. As pointed out in *Potter v. Washington State Patrol*, 165 Wn.2d 67, 76–77, 196 P.3d 691 (2008):

we are hesitant to recognize an abrogation or derogation from the common law absent clear evidence of the legislature's intent to deviate from the common law. "It is a well-established principle of statutory construction that '[t]he common law ... ought not to be deemed repealed, unless the language of a statute be clear and explicit for this purpose."

(Internal citations omitted). There is no indication in RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) that the Legislature intended to abandon the tort law definition of dangerous. The Division Two majority's dictionary definition, which defines dangerous as the mere **ability** of a condition to cause a serious injury, is strikingly broad and without any reasonable limitation. Indeed, any condition along a trail might cause a serious injury if a bicycle collides with it.

Importantly, the common law definition of dangerous takes into account the utility of a condition when determining dangerousness. The purpose of a bollard is to protect trail users – parents pushing strollers, walkers, and cyclists – from cars and trucks that might attempt to intrude on the sanctity of the trail. There is nothing about a bollard that poses an unreasonable risk of harm when it is placed to allow passage by bikes, but

not cars. Given the protective function of bollards, they do not present an *unreasonable* risk of harm. *See Bice v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc.*, 210 So. 3d 315, 320 (La. Ct. App. 2016) (After considering the risk-utility factors, a bollard does not present an unreasonable risk of harm); *Ramsey v. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc.*, 124 So. 3d 415, 417 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2013) (A wheel stop placed in the center of a parking space presents no unreasonable risk of harm.); *Puma v. City of New York*, 36 A.D.3d 517, 828 N.Y.S.2d 367, 368 (N.Y. App. Div. 2007) (A bollard does not present a triable issue as to the existence of a dangerous condition).

C. RAP 13.4(b)(4): THE 2-1 DECISION FROM DIVISION TWO ADDRESSES THE SCOPE OF RECREATIONAL USE IMMUNITY, WHICH IS A MATTER OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST

The proper scope of recreational use immunity is an issue of substantial public interest that this court has regularly considered. *E.g.*Lockner v. Pierce Cty., 190 Wn.2d 526, 415 P.3d 246 (2018); Jewels v.

City of Bellingham, 183 Wn.2d 388, 390, 353 P.3d 388 (2015); Camicia v.

Howard S. Wright Constr. Co., 179 Wn.2d 684, 317 P.3d 987 (2014);

Ravenscroft v. Washington Water Power Co., 136 Wn.2d 911, 920, 969

P.2d 75 (1999). Washington is known for its natural beauty. It has long been the policy of our state, as reflected in RCW 4.24.210, to facilitate public recreation on lands owned by others. Indeed, when respondents

intitially sought direct review from the decision of the trial court, they fully acknowledged the broad public importance of the scope of recreational immunity, especially as it relates to cyclists. Statement of Grounds for Direct Review at 13-14, *Schwartz v. King County*, No. 96263-4. These matters are all the more important now that the Court of Appeals

has charted a path separate from the rule adopted in this Court's *Jewels* case.

Moreover, tens of thousands of bollards are in use throughout
Washington. The departure of the Division Two majority from the tort
law definition of dangerous creates an unacceptable risk for landowners,
including muncipal governments, who are using bollards as an important
tool to keep cars out of pedestrian areas. It is in the public interest to
clarify the definition of dangerous in light of a published Court of Appeals
decision substantially expanding this definition.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should grant King County's petition for review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and affirm the trial

court's grant of summary judgment. As a matter of law, King County is entitled to recreational use immunity under the facts of this case.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 24th day of December, 2020.

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG Prosecuting Attorney

By:

DAVID J. HACKETT, WSBA #21236

Civil Division Appellate Chair DANIEL L. KINERK, WSBA #13537 JESSICA HARDUNG KOZMA, WSBA #30416

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Attorneys for Petitioner King County

Appendix A

October 27, 2020

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

CARL W. SCHWARTZ and SHERRY SCHWARTZ, individually and the marital community composed thereof

No. 53588-2-II

Appellants,

v.

KING COUNTY, a local governmental entity and municipal corporation within the state of Washington, PUBLISHED OPINION

Respondent.

MELNICK, J. — Carl Schwartz suffered a tragic injury while riding his bicycle. The incident occurred when Schwartz struck a bollard¹ on a trail in a park owned by King County. Schwartz sued the County. The County claimed immunity under the recreational use immunity statute,² and moved for summary judgment. The trial court granted the County's motion.

Schwartz argues that the County was not entitled to summary judgment based on recreational use immunity because genuine issues of material fact exist. First, he contends that genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the trail was used predominately for transportation or recreation. Second, he argues that genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the County had the authority to close the Green River Trail (GRT). Finally, he contends

¹ Bollards are short posts used to stop vehicles from entering the trail. *See Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 688, 317 P.3d 987 (2014).

² RCW 4.24.210.

that genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the County charged a fee to use the trail. In the event we disagree, then Schwartz argues that genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether the known dangerous artificial latent condition exception to recreational use immunity applies. RCW 4.24.210(4)(a).

We conclude that a genuine issue of material fact exists as to whether the bollard constituted an exception to recreational use immunity as a dangerous condition and as a latent condition. We reverse.

FACTS³

I. INCIDENT

On March 13, 2017, Schwartz rode his bicycle south on the GRT in Cecil Moses Memorial Park when he struck a bollard. The white bollard was four inches wide and had a red reflector on both the north and south side of it.

Schwartz, an experienced bicyclist, rode several thousand miles every year. Since 2010, he had ridden on the GRT "a few dozen times or more." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 968. As a result of the accident, Schwartz was rendered a quadriplegic.

II. THE GREEN RIVER TRAIL (GTR)

The GRT is a 19-mile trail that runs from Cecil Moses Memorial Park in Tukwila to Kent. At the north end of Cecil Moses Memorial Park, adjacent to the trail, a sign titled "Trail Rules" states: "Trail is closed 1/2 hour after sunset and opens 1/2 hour before sunrise." CP at 1018, 1023.

The GRT is used for both recreational and nonrecreational purposes, including commuting. When the County created the GRT master plan in 1988, it understood that "the trail [would] be used for daily commuting as well as for recreation." CP at 1264.

³ Where the facts are written in the present tense, they are the facts as existed at summary judgment.

Although the County does not own the entire GRT, it does own the portion of the GRT that runs through Cecil Moses Memorial Park. The County acquired ownership of Cecil Moses memorial Park through 14 parcel and road vacations. It did not charge the public a fee to use the park.

III. THE COUNTY'S REGIONAL TRAIL SYSTEM (RTS)

A. Overview

The GRT is a part of the County's RTS, which consists of 175 miles of trails. The County estimates that pedestrians and bicyclists make approximately 12 million trips on the RTS each year.

The County manages the RTS as a park facility. The County has also described itself as a "steward[]" of the RTS. CP at 178.

The County originally intended the RTS to serve "as recreational amenities and linear parks." CP at 1441. However, the County also intended the RTS to integrate nonmotorized transportation, including bicycles, into the County's transportation system.

In 2012, the County published its "Report of the King County Parks Levy Task Force". CP at 1623. The report stated that the RTS "serves as an increasingly important alternative to traditional means of commuting." CP at 1624-25. But, in the County's 2016 comprehensive plan, it recognized the primary purpose of the RTS continued to be recreation.

In 2013, Robert Foxworthy, the County's Regional Trails Coordinator, wrote a memorandum regarding how the RTS interacted with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Foxworth stated that the RTS's trails are considered shared-use paths, which are "multi-use paths designed primarily for use by bicyclists and pedestrians . . . for transportation and recreation purposes." CP at 1662, 1664. Foxworthy also stated that the trails on the RTS are considered

public rights-of-way, which are defined as "[p]ublic land acquired for or dedicated to transportation purposes." CP at 1664.

In the County's 2017 program policies, it stated that "[r]egional trails should be accessible . . . for recreation and utility uses such as home-to-work or other 'commute' type trips," noting "the importance of the RTS being available when people want or need it—provides for 24 hour use." CP at 2739.

B. Bollards on the RTS

The County installed bollards, including the bollard that Schwartz struck, to prevent cars from driving onto the trails.

In 2008, Foxworthy wrote an e-mail stating the County "should begin thinking about painting diamond warning stripes around the bollards on [the County's] paved trails." CP at 1950. In 2009, the County proposed new guidelines that would have required all new bollards to have such markings, but it never implemented them. The *Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices* (MUTCD), issued by the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), and the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials both recommend yellow pavement markings leading up to and around bollards. The MUTCD applies to the GRT where Schwartz was injured.

The FHWA recognizes that bollards can present hazards: "Even 'properly' installed bollards constitute a serious and potentially fatal safety hazard to unwary trail users." CP at 1097. Therefore, "bollards should never be a default treatment, and should not be used unless there is a documented history of intrusion by unauthorized cars, trucks, or other unauthorized vehicles." CP at 1097.

The County has received complaints from cyclists regarding bollards on the RTS. For example, in 2014, the County received a complaint where the citizen alleged that she had "suffered catastrophic injuries" as a result of striking a bollard that she did not see. CP at 1944. The complaints were not specific to the bollard that Schwartz struck, and the County did not know of any reports of injuries sustained from that specific bollard.

However, in 2009, someone painted the word "post" and a squiggly line on the asphalt on both approaches to the bollard that Schwartz struck. Stephanie Johnson, a former County parks and recreation employee, stated that she was present when another employee told their boss about the painted words and squiggly lines, but he took no action.

C. Federal Funding

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