FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/6/2021 9:38 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 99359-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CARL W. SCHWARTZ and SHERRY SCHWARTZ, individually and the marital community composed thereof,

Respondents,

v.

KING COUNTY, a local government entity and municipal corporation within the State of Washington,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. INTRODUCTION

Rather than accurately portray the facts and law in seeking review by this Court of Division II's decision in the recreational use immunity statute, RCW 4.24.210, King County ("County") resorts to the shoddy tactic of simply ignoring facts and pertinent decisions that detract from its narrative. It even belittles Carl W. Schwartz, who was horrendously injured after crashing his bicycle into a single, unmarked 4-inch wide bollard that the County had negligently installed and maintained, in violation of state and federal safety standards and guidelines, on its Green River Trail ("GRT"), an urban commuter shared use path which is part of the County's Regional Trail System ("RTS").

Division II's opinion correctly applied the law on the immunity statute. Just as this Court denied direct review (Cause No. 96263-4) previously, this Court should deny review now where the County fails to meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) for review.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's opinion does a good job in describing the facts in this

The County facetiously speculates, without *any* authority, that Carl was injured because he was "inattentive" or distracted by a squirrel, pet. at 2-3, rather than its negligent placement of its bollard whose hazard to cyclists was known to the County. The County's speculation is *unsupported*, and insulting to Schwartz, an experienced bicyclist, rendered a quadriplegic by the County's negligence. As Division II noted, Schwartz rode several thousands of miles a year, and rode the GRT specifically. Op. at 2. If anyone, Schwartz would have detected the bollard had it not been so invisible to cyclists.

serious bicycle collision that occurred on the GRT near the Cecil Moses Memorial Park in Tukwila. Op. at 2-8. Schwartz does not seek to repeat those facts but certain critical points bear emphasis because the County chose to omit any reference to them.²

The bollard at issue was unmarked and had been installed by the County in the middle of the shared use bicycle path. CP 1162-66. That bollard was not located in a customary place where the path intersected with a road. It is not placed along a crosswalk or at an intersection with a roadway where a bicyclist would customarily expect to encounter a bollard. Rather, it is placed in the middle of the shard use path at a seemingly random location and is not easily anticipated by a cyclist using the curving path. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 1097-98.

The County failed to comply with state and federal standards concerning the bollard's installation and marking. *Id.* Such regulations require that bollards, like the one which injured Schwartz, be conspicuously marked. *Id*; op. at 4. This includes diamond shaped striping on the pavement to warn travelers, especially nonmotorized travelers like bicyclists who travel at speed, to avoid them. *Id.*; CP 183-87.

² And the Court must view "the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the facts" in the light most favorable *to Schwartz. Ravenscroft v. Washington Water Power Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 911, 919, 969 P.2d 75 (1998).

The County knew for several years that unmarked bollards, like the one which injured Schwartz, present a serious and life-threatening hazard to bicyclists along its trails because they are very difficult to see even while traveling at a reasonable speed. Numerous citizens complained that bollards on the RTS were dangerous; one citizen even reported "catastrophic injuries" as a result of hitting a bollard with her bicycle because the bollard blended in with the background. See CP 1943-44 (complaint in 2016 from a citizen who suffered "catastrophic injuries" after riding her bicycle into a "random bollard" that had been installed on the Issaquah Creek Trail). The citizen warned that without sufficient markings, the bollard "blends in very closely with the asphalt surface of the trail." CP 1944; see also, CP 1972-87 (complaint in 2012 from a citizen warning about hazardous bollards on the RTS, specifically being able to see them or in time to avoid hitting them and referring to a Netherlands study showing that inadequately marked bollards are dangerous because they are difficult to see due to poor contrast with the surrounding environment); CP 2172 (warning from off duty firefighter that the bollards on the GRT are hazardous to cyclists); CP 1971 (complaint from cyclist who suffered injury after striking a bollard on the RTS). As one concerned citizen wrote when advocating that the County

³ The randomness of the bollard at issue makes it especially dangerous.

remove bollards along RTS paths altogether, "When I weigh the rare danger of a car coming down the trail, and the daily danger of a bollard, I think I'd prefer the former rather than the latter." CP 1972.

The County was also previously informed by a professional traffic engineer, Martin Nizlek, that many of its bollards installed in the RTS were dangerous because they were inadequately marked and not visible in certain conditions. CP 1955-60.

More specifically, the County knew that the specific bollard that injured Schwartz presented a hazard to cyclists; it had been *warned*. Google Earth images showed that as early as 2009 a concerned citizen painted yellow or fluorescent warning markings on the pavement and wrote the word "POST" in all capitals on each side of the bollard to alert trail users of its existence. CP 1100-14.⁴

An experienced bicyclist would not have anticipated the bollard, which was placed not at an intersection or crosswalk where she/he would expect a bollard, but rather in the middle of the shared-use path at a

Answer to Petition for Review - 4

⁴ Former Parks staffer Stephanie Johnson testified that she recalled working for the County when the painted warnings were still clearly visible on the path. CP 1115-18. Johnson confirmed that her supervisor, Sam Whitman, who is still employed by the County, did *nothing* about the warnings, even though she and another employee believed the warnings demonstrated that the bollard was a dangerous condition on the trail. *Id.* Although the County had installed hundreds of bollards on its trails, Johnson stated that this was the only bollard in the RTS that that had ever been marked with warnings by members of the public due to the particular hazard it imposed. *Id.* Why those markings were removed or allowed to fade is a mystery.

seemingly random location not easily anticipated by a cyclist using the curving path. *See*, *e.g.*, CP 1097-98.

Schwartz offered *unrebutted* expert testimony that the warnings demonstrated someone had likely hit the bollard and then felt the need to warn other trail users of its existence in the middle of the path. CP 1062-71, 1087-88. Schwartz's expert also stated that the photographs of the bollard clearly show that it had been hit or impacted on occasions prior to Schwartz's injury. CP 1079. Schwartz's experts testified that the bollard was functionally invisible.⁵

Aware of the danger its unmarked bollards posed, the County

⁵ James S. Sobek, P.E. reviewed documents and pertinent safety standards and guidelines and conducted an on-site inspection of the GRT and the bollard. CP 1072-91. Sobek opined among other things that (1) the contrast or conspicuity of the bollard as measured against its background drops off considerably (to zero or near zero conspicuity) in weather and lighting conditions that are common in Washington (e.g., rain, overcast skies, wet pavement); (2) when the conspicuity of the bollard drops to zero or near zero it will not be noticeable or readily apparent to someone approaching the bollard that doesn't know it exists; (3) when the County installed the bollard it did not comply with state and federal safety standards and recommendations (e.g., MUTCD and AASHTO) concerning markings that would have made the bollard noticeable and readily apparent to trail users in the conditions that existed at the time of Schwartz's injury; (4) the bollard therefore constituted a known artificial dangerous latent condition on the trail under the conditions that existed at the time; and (5) the County knew, or should have known, that the bollard was dangerous because it received prior notice that the bollard presented an unreasonable risk of harm to trail users as evidenced in photographs of the site published by Google in 2009. Id.

Likewise, Schwartz's well-qualified human factors expert JoEllen Gill, MS, CHFP, CXLT, CSP, also opined that the single bollard was a latent condition caused by the lack of visual markers to make the bollard conspicuous against the trail's backdrop, and because a trail user does not expect to encounter this bollard in the location where it has been installed (in the middle of a trail with no intersections or other geographic warnings). CP 1062-71.

proposed adopting new safety guidelines in 2009 that would have required all bollards to be marked according to federal, national and WSDOT guidelines, with diamond shaped markings around the bollard. CP 1793-95, 1945-54. By the time Schwartz was catastrophically injured several years later, these proposed changes still had not been implemented by the County.

It is also important to note that the County has taken every opportunity to delay the expeditious resolution of this appeal. The County filed a baseless motion for reconsideration that was rejected by Division II. Most pointedly, it opposed direct review by this Court, claiming both that there are no inconsistencies in the decisions of this Court and that this case did not involve a fundamental and urgent issue of broad public import that this Court should address under RAP 4.2(a)(4). *See* County answer to statement of grounds for direct review.

C. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED⁶

RCW 4.24.210 modifies common law principles of premises

⁶ Schwartz does not ask this Court to grant review, but, if the Court grants review (and it should not), then this Court should also grant review on two issues Schwartz raised below and Division II addressed – whether the immunity statute apply here at all because the GRT was a transportation facility as in *Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Const. Co.*, 179 Wn.2d 684, 317 P.3d 987 (2014). Op. at 10-12; Br. of Appellant at 7-20, 23-24, 28-35; reply br. at 5-10, and the County lacked the authority to close the GRT. Op. at 12-15; Br. of Appellant at 20-21, 35-38; reply br. at 11-16. These issues are only *conditional* issues for review. *State v. Grott*, 195 Wn.2d 256, 265, 458 P.3d 750 (2020) (recognizing that issues may be raised conditionally); *Gerlach v. Cove Apts., LLC*, 196 Wn.2d 111, 119 n.4, 471 P.3d 181 (2020) (same).

Answer to Petition for Review - 6

liability where public or private landowners allow members of the public to use their land for free for purposes of outdoor recreation, barring liability for unintentional injuries to such users. *Camicia*, 179 Wn.2d at 694; *Davis v. State*, 144 Wn.2d 612, 615-16, 30 P.3d 460 (2001). Such landowners must show that the land at issue is (1) open to the public; (2) for recreational purposes; and (3) no fee "of any kind" is charged for its use. *Camicia*, 179 Wn.2d at 695-96.⁷

RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) creates an exception to recreational use immunity where a person is injured by "a known dangerous artificial latent condition" on the premises and no sign is "conspicuously posted" to warn of it. Here, the trial court erred in ruling as a matter of law that the bollard was not a latent condition where the other elements are met.

(1) The Bollard at Issue Here Was Dangerous

Although it *chose* not to argue that the dangerousness of its bollard,⁸ the County now claims that Schwartz did not satisfy the

⁷ Because recreational use immunity is an affirmative defense, the County carried the burden of proving entitlement to immunity under the statute. *Cregan v. Fourth Member Church*, 175 Wn.2d 279, 283, 285 P.3d 860 (2012); *Camicia*, 179 Wn.2d at 693.

 $^{^{8}}$ At oral argument on summary judgment, the County conceded that all the elements except for latency were met.

[[]COUNSEL FOR THE COUNTY]: There are, as I mentioned, exceptions to immunity under the statute; none of those exceptions apply on the record that's before this Court. There is the –

dangerousness element. Pet. at 12-14. This Court should see through this tactic. Division II correctly discerned that the bollard was indeed dangerous. Op. at 20-21.

Bollards *are* potentially dangerous. This Court need go no farther than its decision in *Camicia*, involving a bicyclist's collision with a bollard on a shared use path. As noted *supra*, cyclists colliding with bollards on the GRT were a hazard known to the County. Br. of Appellant at 3-6 (noting reports received by the County of "catastrophic injuries" suffered by bicyclists who hit bollards and numerous requests for additional warnings around the bollards on the County's trails). And cyclists painted a warning as to *this bollard* on the GRT because it was hazardous.

At least a question of fact was presented on this issue.

(2) <u>The County Did Not Warn Cyclists of Its Dangerous</u> <u>Bollard</u>

[THE COURT]: Known, dangerous, artificial, latent.

[COUNSEL FOR THE COUNTY]: Each of those terms modify the word "condition," they do not modify each other; and each of those terms must be present in order for a liability to attach to the landowner. For purposes of our motion, we are prepared to concede the other elements; latency is the element that King County is not willing to concede.

RP (8/3/18) at 9 (emphasis added). The County should not be permitted to argue on appeal a point it conceded below. *City of Oak Harbor v. St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co.*, 139 Wn. App. 68, 72, 159 P.3d 422 (2007).

Answer to Petition for Review - 8

With regard to the signage requirement of RCW 4.24.210(4)(a), it is undisputed that the County failed to warn GRT users about the bollard; no sign was conspicuously posted about it. Indeed, the County violated applicable signage standards, as noted *supra*. Moreover, in October 2008, Regional Trails Director Robert Foxworthy sought to fix the signage problem known to the County by asking County leaders, "Do we have the resources to paint road-like markings on regional trails – stencils, staff, painting equipment, etc.? We should begin thinking about painting diamond warning stripes around bollards on paved trails." CP 1950. He was told the County had the resources to add warning markings, but it chose not to do so. Id. In 2009, the County went a step further and officially proposed new guidelines which would have required all bollards to be marked with diamond striping on the pavement according to national AASHTO and WSDOT guidelines. CP 1793-95, 1945-54. Yet, eight years later, the County had failed to mark the bollard that injured Schwartz.

Schwartz met the requirement of RCW 4.24.210(4)(a) that the bollard lacked a conspicuous warning sign.

⁹ Director Foxworthy continued to voice his frustration with the bollards on the RTS, writing in 2014, "I have a peeve about bollards in general. There must be a better way to keep vehicles off the regional trails (after all, it didn't stop the bus). We've got to figure out a better solution! Am I right? I spent about half my time pulling and replacing bollards!....[T]he paint is peeling off most of them." CP 2171

(3) The Bollard Was a Latent Condition on the County's GRT

The County asserts that Division II erroneously treated the question of the bollard's latent hazard to bicyclists. Pet. at 9-12. Division II correctly treated that issue. Op. at 21-23. Review is not merited. RAP 13.4(b).

Washington courts interpret the statutory terms at issue here in their plain and ordinary meaning, unless a contrary legislative intent is involved. *Ravenscroft*, 136 Wn.2d at 920. The words in RCW 4.24.210(4) modify "condition," not each other. *Van Dinter v. City of Kennewick*, 121 Wn.2d 38, 46, 846 P.2d 522 (1993); *Jewels v. City of Bellingham*, 183 Wn.2d 388, 397, 353 P.3d 204 (2015).

For a condition to be "latent," it must not be "readily apparent" to the recreational user of the land. *Jewels*, 183 Wn.2d at 398. This "apparency" must be for the general class of reasonable users and does not mean the particular plaintiff. *Id.*¹⁰ As for the condition, it is the actual condition itself and not the risk of harm that is at issue. *Ravenscroft*, 136 Wn.2d at 924-26. The issue is *visibility* to users, and, as Division II noted, this bollard was not visible to users, as Schwartz's experts opined. Op. at

Answer to Petition for Review - 10

Thus, submerged trees in a man-made lake in *Ravenscroft* or muddy water on a road hiding an eroded edge and drop off into deep adjacent water in *Cultee v. City of Tacoma*, 95 Wn. App. 505, 977 P.2d 15, *review denied*, 139 Wn.2d 1005 (1999) met the requirement.

23. *Objectively*, a user could not see it at key times of day.¹¹

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